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! The earliest apparent violation 1n this matter appears to be an excessive contribution made on July 9, 1997,
and the earliest date on which the limitations period would run with respect to an apparent violation 1n these matters
therefore 1s July 9, 2002. See 28 U.S C § 2462.



AR 00-02/MUR 4935

First General Counsel’s Report

2-

Manny Weiss
Steve Zakheim
Sarah Scherman
Bashev Dear
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Aron Igel
Chaim Kahana
Hershel Klein
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Arye Eingel
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Chaskel Elias
Moishe Geller
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Chaim Sieger
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Yaakov Einhorn
Chaim Welt
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Nat Cheney
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Matthew Jones, Jr.
Bamey Freeman
Nelson Patino
Jon Hamill
Pearl Greenbaum
Irwin Kahan
Temi Kahan
Bill Huppert
Sterling Krieger
Sharon Avital
Susan Hyatt
Reuven Kaufman
Avrum Farber
Baruch Beilush
David Donenberg
Yitchak Ciper
Martin Wesel
Leah Brecher
Menachem Langer
Markus Mandelkorn
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SOURCE:

COMPLAINANT:

RESPONDENTS:
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Michelle Portnor
Anchil Feder
Yakov Baum
Zev Anfang
Dovid Piller
Berel Oberlander
Pesach Ringel
Tom Hennessey
Joe Horagh
Tony Haugh
James Campbell
Conor McHughs
Frank Nolan
Joshua Salwartz
Alexander Vais
Yidel Klein

Leo Yakubouich
Zitta Yakubouich

MUR: 4935

DATE COMPLAINT FILED: October 13, 1999
DATE OF NOTIFICATION: October 15, 1999
DATE ACTIVATED: March 23. 2000

EXPIRATION OF STATUTE OF

LIMITATIONS: July 9, 2002
STAFF MEMBERS: Joel J. Roessner
' Angela Whitehead

Quigley
Complaint Generated
Sandy Aboulafia

Dear foi Congress and Abraham Roth as Treasurer

Friends of Noach Dear *93 and Abraham Roth as Treasurer
(internally generated)

Dear 2000, Inc. and Abraham Roth as Treasurer (internally
generated)

Steven Renee Adelsberg (internally generated)

Shael Bellows (internally generated)

Joseph P. Billig (internally generated)

Trina Cayre (internally generated)

Abraham Chehebar (internally generated)
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RELEVANT STATUTES:
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Jerome Cooper (internally generated)

Samuel Cygler (internally generated)

Yosef Davis (internally generated)

Michael Fuchs (internally generated)

Eugene Gluck (internally generated)

Edith Gross (internally generated)

Harry Gross (internally generated)

Frank Johnson (internally generated)

Jomarr Realty Company (internally generated)

Boris Kandov (internally generated)

Benjamin Landa (internally generated)

Shimon Lefkowitz (internally generated)

Abraham Leser (internally generated)

Andrew Lowinger (internally generated)

Joseph Mermelstein (internally generated)

Boris Motovich (internally generated)

Serge Muller (internally generated)

J.L. Rajchenbach (internally generated)

Carl Rosen (internally generated)

Manny Weiss (internally generated)

Steve Zakheim (internally generated)

A. & E. Consultants of NY., Ltd. (internally generated)
Ari H. Friedman Associates Ltd. (intemally generated)
Blue Spot Co. (internally generated)

C.G.B.P. (internally generated)

EDH Associates (internally generated)

Elite Insurance Agency, Inc. (internally generated)
Health and Home Management (internally generated)
Horizon Insurance Agency, Ltd. (internally generated)
Intimate Resources Ltd. (internally generated)
Jacobowitz ¢/o Jay Import Company (internally generated)
Knit Nat Mills, Ltd., Inc. (internally generated)
Kramer and Shapiro (internally generated)

Mark Milberg Marketing, Inc. (internally generated)
Midway Nursing Home Associates (internally generated)
Northernway Mgt Corp. #1 (internally generated)
Plymouth Rock Fuel Corp. (internally generated)
Salvatore Realty Corp. (internally generated)

Surfside Manor Home for Adults (internally generated)
The Esplanade Hotel (internally generated)

2U.S.C. § 438(b)
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A)
2 U.S.C. § 441a(f)
2 U.S.C. § 441b(a)



i

T, 475

Yol

g

AR 00-02/MUR 4935 -5- .
First General Counsel’s Report

2US.C. § 441f

2 US.C. § 434(a)

2 U.S.C. § 438(d)

2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(1)

2 US.C. § 434(b)(2)

2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4)

2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4)(F)
2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(8)

2 U.S.C. § 434(2)(6)(A)
2 U.S.C. § 434(2)(6)(B)
2US.C. § 434(b)(4)
2US.C. § 431(8)

2 U.S.C. §§ 431-451

11 C.FR. § 110.1(b)(1)
11 CFR. § 110.9(a)

11 CFR. § 1142

11 C.FR. § 114.2(d)

11 CFR. § 104.5

11 C.F.R. § 104.5(a)

11 C.F.R. § 100.7(b)(1)
11 C.F.R. § 100.8(b)(1)
11 CFR. § 110.1(k)
11 CF.R. §101.3

11 C.FR. § 106.4

11 C.FR. § 106.4(2)

11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b)

INTERNAL REPORTS
CHECKED: Report of the Audit Division on Dear For Congress, Inc.
Disclosure Reports
FEDERAL AGENCIES
CHECKED: None

L GENERATION OF MATTER

Dear for Congress, Inc. (“the Committee™) was the principal campaign committee of
Noach Dear for his campaign for the Democratic nomination for the United States House of
Representatives (New York 9™ District) in the 1998 primary, and registered with the Commission

on July 19, 1997. Dear 2000, Inc. (“Dear 2000”) is the principal campaign committee of
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Mr. Dear for his campaign for the Democratic nomination for the United States House of
Representatives (New York 9™ District) in the 2000 primary, and registered with the Commission

on December 21, 1999.

Audit Referral (“AR”) 00-02 was referred by the Audit Division to the Office of General
Counsel on January 27, 2000 and was generated from ‘an audit of the Committee’s activities
during the 1998 election cycle, undertaken in accordance with section 438(b) of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. §§ 431-451 (“the Act” or “FECA”).2
Attachment 1. The first matter referred by the Audit Division to this Office is the finding that the
Committee accepted excessive contributions and did not disclose as debts those excessive
contributions which it has not been able to refund. Id. The second matter referred is the finding
that the Committee failed to file required 48-hour notices and filed untimely 48-hour notices
during the period when such notices were required (from August 27 to September 12, 1998). Id.
The final matter referred is the finding that the Committee accepted contributions made by one
person in the name of another person. Id.

Matter Under Review (“MUR”) 4935 was generated by a Complaint filed by Sandy
Aboulafia, Vice President of the Women’s Democratic Club of New York City (“Complaint™).

Attachment 2.

2 The Commussion approved the Final Audit Report on January 13, 2000.



anaccaunn
-
poe ]

[,

n

m F"%rﬂ...ﬁ 5 - _-;3:-34;-'1‘ i

P
Fs
5

AR 00-02/MUR 4935 -7-
First General Counsel’s Report

II. COMPLAINT AND REPSONSE

A. Complaint

The Complaint alleges, with respect to the 1998 election cycle, that the Committee
accepted éxcessive contributions and prohibited corporate contributions, filed an incorrect Mid-
year Report, and “failed to file required reports with the FEC on October 15, 1998, and
January 31, 1998 [sic].” Attachment 2 at 2. In addition, the Complaint alleges that Friends of
Noach Dear ‘93, which appears to be a campaign committee established under New York state
law for the purpose of supporting Mr. Dear’s candidacy for the New York City Council, funded a
$20,000 poll which had the purpose of measuring whether Mr. Dear should become a candidate
in the 2000 election for nomination for and election to the United States House of
Representatives (New York 9" District), thereby making an excessive in-kind contribution to the
Committee in connection with Mr. Dear’s 2000 campaign.

B. Response

For its response to the Complaint, the Committee filed a letter dated March 1, 2000, in
which it states that “each of [the] allegations [in the Complaint] was also raised in the Audit
Report” and which incorporates by reference its response to the Interim Audit Report (“IAR”) as
its response to the Complaint.> Attachment 3 at 1.

While there is overlap between the issues raised in the Committee’s response to the IAR
and the allegations in the Complaint, this overlap is not complete, notwithstanding the
Committee’s assertion to the contrary. Specifically, the Response to the IAR does not contain

any response which specifically addresses Ms. Aboulafia’s claims that the Committee accepted

3 The Audit Division completed the IAR on September 3, 1999, and the Commuttee responded to the IAR on
November 5, 1999.
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prohibited corporate contributions, filed an incorrect Mid-year Report, and failed to file reports
due on October 15, 1998, and January 31, 1999.4

Indeed, the only claim which both is raised in the Complaint and is specifically addressed
in the Response to the IAR is the claim that the Committee accepted excessive contributions.
The Committee does not appear to deny the violation. Rather the Committee offers the

explanation that it:

. .. attempt[ed] to comply with the broad provisions of the Act, while failing to
grasp fully its more detailed provisions. While the Committee’s staff and
volunteers understood the practical rule that a couple together could contribute up
to $4,000 for a candidate’s effort to seek federal office, they did not grasp the
series of technical and procedural requirements to which a committee must adhere

in order to raise such amounts.
Attachment 3 at 3. The Committee offers no defense or explanation with respect to its
acceptance of contributions greater than $4,000.
. LAW

A. Contribution Limits

A contribution is a gift, subscription, loan, advance, deposit of money, or anything of
value made by a person for the purpose of influencing any election for federal office. 2 U.S.C.
§ 431(8)(A); 11 C.F.R. § 100.7(a)(1). The Act and the Commission’s regulations prohibit any
person from making contributions to any candidate and his or her authorized political committees

with respect to any election for federal office which, in the aggregate, exceed $1,000. 2 U.S.C.

§ 441a(a)(1)(A); 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(b)(1). No candidate or political committee may knowingly

4 The Response to the IAR does seek generally to excuse the Committee for any violations of the Act,
arguing that “the Commuttee . . . was aware of the broad contours of the Act and sought to follow them, yet
ultimately experienced difficulties because its staff and volunteers were not well-versed 1n the Act’s complexities.”

Attachment 3 at 2.
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accept any contribution that violates the contribution limitations. 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f); 11 C.F.R. §
110.9(a).
B. Prohibited Contributions
Corporations are prohibited from making contributions in connection with federal
elections. 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a); 11 C.F.R. § 114.2. No candidate or political committee may
knowingly accept such a contribution. 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(d).
C. Contributions Made In The Name Of Another
The Act prohibits any person from making a contribution in the name of another person.
2 U.S.C. § 441f. The Act also prohibits any person from knowingly permitting his or her name
to be used to effect a contribution made by one person in the name of another person. Id.
Finally, the Act prohibits the knowing acceptance of a contribution made by one person in the
name of another person. /d.
D. Reporting Requirements
Each treasurer of a political committee shall file reports of its receipts and disbursements.
2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(1). Each report shall disclose for the appropriate reporting period all receipts.
2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(2). Each report also shall disclose for the appropriate reporting period all
disbursements, including contribution refunds. 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4)(F). Finally, each report
must disclose the political committee’s outstanding debts. 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(8).
A political committee’s quarterly report is due to be filed no later than the fifteenth day
following the close of the quarter. 11 C.F.R. § 104.5(a). A political committee’s year-end report

is due to be filed on January 31 of the following year. /d.
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E. 48-Hour Notice Requirements
The Act requires the principal campaign committee of a candidate to notify the Clerk of
the House, the Secretary of the Senate, or the Commission, as appropriate, in writing, of any
contribution of $1,000 or more received by any authorized committee of such candidate after the
twentieth day, but more than 48 hours before, any election. 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(6)(A); 11 C.F.R.
§ 104.5. Notification must be made within 48 hours after the receipt of the contribution and must
include the name of the candidate, the office sought by the candidate, the identity of the
contributor, the date of receipt, and amount of the contribution. /d. This notification is in
addition to all other reporting requirements under the Act. 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(6)(B).
F. Testing The Waters And Polling
The Commission’s regulations state that funds received and payments made solely for the
purpose of determining whether an individual should become a candidate are not contributions.
11 C.F.R. §§ 100.7(b)(1) and 100.8(b)(1). However, if the individual subsequently becomes a
candidate, any funds received are contributions and any payments made are expenditures subject
to reporting requirements of the Act. 11 C.F.R. § 101.3. The individual is required to retain
records of the names of each contributor, the dates of receipt and amounts of all contributions
received and all expenditures made in connection with determining whether he or she should
become a candidate. /d. Such contributions and expenditures must be reported with the first
report filed by the principal campaign committee of the candidate, regardless of the date the

funds were received. 1d.
The purchase of opinion poll results by a candidate or a candidate’s authorized political
committee or agent is an expenditure by the candidate or a potential expenditure under 11 C.F.R.

§ 100.8(b)(1). 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(a). Additionally, if a political committee or other person not
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authorized by a candidate to make expenditures purchases such poll results and a candidate, a
candidate’s authorized political committee, agent, or another unauthorized political committee
subsequently accepts the poll results, an in-kind contribution by the purchaser to the candidate or
other political committee and an expenditure by the candidate or other political committee
results. 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b). If an individual uses such poll results to decide whether to become
a candidate, a contribution or expenditure does not exist until he or she becomes a candidate.
11 C.E.R. §§ 100.7(b)(1) and 100.8(b)(1).
IV. ANALYSIS

A. Contribution Limits

In connection with its audit of the Committee, the Audit staff reviewed copies of
contribution checks accepted by the Committee for the 1998 election cycle. Attachment 1 at 4.
Based on this review, it appears that the Committee accepted contributions in excess of $1,000
from 327 contributors. /d. The aggregate amount of contributions in excess of $1,000 accepted
by the Committee was $563,913. Id. Based on the dates on which the checks were executed, it
appears that the Committee first began accepting contributions in excess of $1,000 on or about
July 11, 1997. See Attachment 4 at row 636. Of the 327 contributors of amounts in excess of
$1,000, it appears that 26 contributors gave amounts in excess of $4,000: Steven Renee
Adelsberg, Shael Bellows, Joseph P. Billig, Trina Cayre, Abraham Chehebar, Jerome Cooper,
Samuel Cygler, Yosef Davis, Michael Fuchs, Eugene Gluck, Edith Gross, Harry Gross, Frank

Johnson, Jomarr Realty Company, Boris Kandov, Benjamin Landa, Shimon Lefkowitz, Abraham
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Leser, Andrew Lowinger, Joseph Mermelstein, Boris Motovich, Serge Muller, J.L. Rajchenbach,
Carl Rosen, Manny Weiss and Steve Zakheim.> Attachment 4.

In the IAR, the Audit staff recommended that the Committee provide documentation that
established that the contributions were not excessive. Attachment 1 at 6. The Committee has
made no demonstration that the contributions were not excessive. The Committee’s response to
the identification of apparent excessive contributions instead stresses the candidate’s supporters’
“relatively little experience with the Federal Election Campaign Act and its accompanying
regulations” and explains that, although the Committee lacked full understanding of the technical

and procedural requirements outlined by the Act, it attempted to comply broadly with the

provisions of the Act through:

o Its efforts to limit each contribution attributed to an individual to
$1000;

o Its efforts to seek reattribution letters;

e Its establishment of a separate account for funds raised for the general
election and the fact that some contributors specifically designated
their contributions to the general election;

e Its collection of employer and occupation data;

5 Thus Office beheves that the proper ordering of the Comrmussion’s resources and priornties warrants taking
no action with respect to individuals contributing excessive amounts less than $4,000. See Heckler v Chaney,

470 U.S. 821 (1985).
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e Its filing of late contribution notices for approximately 91 percent of

the funds received during the 20 days preceding the primary, with
notices missing for only four contributions.

Attachment 3 at 2-3. Further, the Committee explains that even its treasurer did not fully
comprehend the Act’s provisions when he informed the Audit staff that “he did not consider
contributions in the amount of $2,000 made by checks drawn on joint checking accounts to be
excessive.” Attachment 3 at 3. The Committee’s response also emphasizes its efforts to refund
the excessive contributions and its commitment to disclosing pending refunds on Schedule D
forms.” Id.

Nothing in the Committee’s response refutes or justifies its apparent knowing acceptance
of contributions in excess of the $1,000 aggregate limit on personal contributions. 2 U.S.C.

§ 441a(f); 11 C.F.R. § 110.9(a). The $1,000 contribution limitation is a fundamental restriction
on the financing of federal election campaigns, and the Committee’s attempt to dismiss this limit
as an easily misunderstood or overlooked technicality should be rejected.

Accordingly, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that the
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.9(a) by knowingly accepting
contributions in excess of the $1,000 aggregate limit on contributions imposed on persons other
than multicandidate political committees in connection with Mr. Dear’s primary campaign.

Further, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that the following

s The Commuttee’s response highlights its solicitation materials as a demonstration of how the Act’s
mtricacies mterfered with its attempts to comply generally with the Act. The Commuttee’s solicitations suggested
that a couple could contribute $2,000, but did not explain that each contributor was required to sign the check,
money order, other negotiable mstrument or a separate writing. Attachment 3 at 3; see 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(k).

? The Final Audit Report reflected that the Commuttee has thus far made refunds to 80 contributors totaling
$254,550, rather than the refund to 107 contributors totaling $275,120 claimed by the Commuttee 1n 1ts response.
The Audit staff also noted that the Commuttee, as of the date of the Final Audit Report, had not disclosed on 1ts
Schedules D the debt resulting from the remaining refunds due to the contributors. However, the Commuttee’s April
Quarterly Report 2000 reflected the remamning refunds due as debts on the Schedules D.
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individuals each violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(b)(1) by making
contributions to the Committee in excess of $1,000 in connection with Noach Dear’s primary
campéign: Steven Renee Adelsberg, Shael Bellows, Joseph P. Billig, Trina Cayre, Abraham
Chehebar, Jerome Cooper, Samuel Cygler, Yosef Davis, Michael Fuchs, Eugene Gluck, Edith
Gross, Harry Gross, Frank Johnson, Jomarr Realty Company, Boris Kandov, Benjamin Landa,
Shimon Lefkowitz, Abraham Leser, Andrew Lowinger, Joseph Mermelstein, Boris Motovich,
Serge Muller, J.L. Rajchenbach, Carl Rosen, Manny Weiss and Steve Zakheim.
B. Prohibited Contributions
The Complainant alleges that, based on the Committee’s reports, Dear for Congress
accepted and spent prohibited corporate contributions. Attachment 2 at 1. While conducting its
audit of the Committee, the Audit staff reviewed copies of contribution checks accepted by the
Committee during the 1998 election cycle and identified 19 possible prohibited contributors in
the aggregate amount of $12,320.2 Attachment 5. These contributions were made by
corporations between September 1997 and September 1998, and ranged in amount from $100 to
$2,500.° Attachment 5. The Committee’s response to the Complaint offers no defense regarding
these alleged prohibited corporate contributions. See Attachment 3.
Consequently, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that
the Committee violate:: 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(d) by knowingly accepting

prohibited corporate contributions.

8 The Audit Division did not refer this matter to the Office of General Counsel because the 1ssue did not meet
the mateniality threshold for a finding or for referral.

’ Fifteen of these contributions were paid to the order of Dear for Congress, three were made out to Noach
Dear, and one to Friends of Noach Dear. Attachment 6.



i3 A

arve “:a-i - ﬁfﬂ J.F' e

ik

phdde o L&

AR 00-02/MUR 4935 -15- .
First General Counsel’s Report

Additionally, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that the
following corporations each violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2 by making
prohibited corporate contributions: A. & E. Consultants of NY., Ltd, Ari H. Friedman Associates
Ltd., Blue Spot Co., C.G.B.P., EDH Associates, Elite Insurance Agency, Inc., Health and Home
Management, Horizon Insurance Agency, Ltd., Intimate Resources Ltd., Jacobowitz c/o Jay
Import Company, Knit Nat Mills, Ltd., Inc., Kramer and Shapiro, Mark Milberg Marketing, Inc.,
Midway Nursing Home Associates, Northernway Mgt Corp. #1, Plymouth Rock Fuel Corp.,
Salvatore Realty Corp., Surfside Manor Home for Adults, and The Esplanade Hotel. Of the 19
corporate contributions, one was in the amount of $2,500, six were in the amount of $1,000, four
were in the amount of $500, one was in the amount of $360, four were in the amount of $250,
two were in the amount of $180 and one was in the amount of $100. Due to the relatively small
dollar amounts apparently received from each corporation, the Office of General Counsel also
recommends that the Commission take no further action, send an admonishment letter and close
the file as it pertains to these corporations.

C. Contributions Made In The Name Of Another
In connection with its audit of the Committee, the Audit staff identified fifteen instances

in which the Committee, during the 1998 election cycle, accepted from individual contributors'®

10 The individuals purported to have made the contributions via the money orders are: Sarah Scherman,
Bashev Dear, Bernard Strulovich, Hershel Perlstein, Joshua Wemnstemn, Hershel Biggelson, Aron Igel, Chaim
Kahana, Hershel Klein, Pesach Lemberger, Arye Eingel, Luzer Obstfeld, Chaskel Elias, Moishe Geller, Mendel
Stemnhill, Chaim Sieger, Jose Bernstein, Yaakov Emnhorn, Chaim Welt, Morris Cohen, Nat Cheney, Ralph Tabbush,
Matthew Jones, Jr , Barney Freeman, Nelson Patino, Jon Hamull, Pearl Greenbaum, Irwin Kahan, Temu Kahan, Bill
Huppert, Sterling Krieger, Sharon Avital, Susan Hyatt, Reuven Kaufman, Avrum Farber, Baruch Beilush, David
Donenberg, Yitchak Ciper, Martin Wesel, Leah Brecher, Menachem Langer, Markus Mandelkorn, Sam Hollander,
Michelle Portnor, Anchil Feder, Yakov Baum, Zev Anfang, Dovid Piller, Berel Oberlander, Pesach Ringel, Tom
Hennessey, Joe Horagh, Tony Haugh, James Campbell, Conor McHughs, Frank Nolan, Joshua Salwartz, Alexander
Vais, Yidel Klein, Leo Yakubouich and Zitta Yakubouich.
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two or more money orders bearing sequential serial numbers. '! Attachments 1 and 7. It appears
that, in several instances, money orders purporting to be from different individuals contained in a
particular sequence were executed in the same handwriting, including the purported signature of
the person drawing the money order."

The Audit staff further noted that, in the case of three contributors who each
contributed $1,000 via six consecutively numbered money orders, it appears that all three of the
contributors were employed by Executive/Essex Gallery, Ltd. Id. It further appears from public
records filed with the Commission that another sequence of money orders was contributed by
employees of Byrne’s Elegant Carriages.

In its referral, the Audit staff notes that the pattern of contributions made via sequential
money orders suggests that the contributions may have been made by one person in the name of
another. In its Response to the IAR, the Committee disputes this conclusion, arguing that “there
is nothing inherently inappropriate or suspect about contributions made through money order.”
Attachment 1 at 10. With respect to the fact that it appears that money orders for contributions
were issued seriatim, the Committee argues that “there is no prima facie evidence of
contributions in the name of another. Rather, the evidence suggests only concerted political

action.” Id. at 11. Finally, the Committee submits signed statements from several of the
contributors in question which, according to the Committee, “attest[ ] to the fact that their

contributions came from personal funds.” Id.

1 In some instances, 1t appears that the money orders bear sequential serial numbers only after the final digit
of the serial number 1s dropped. The Audit staff confirmed that these money orders were, n fact, 1ssued 1n sequence.

12 Thus Office’s conclusion that certain money orders appear to be executed in the same handwrniting is based
on staff assessment, and this Office has not subjected the money orders to expert handwriting analysis.
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The opinion of this Office is that the circumstances surrounding the Committee’s receipt
of contributions present sufficient grounds for finding reason to believe that the Committee
knowingly received contributions made by one person in the name of another, that the purported
contributors knowingly allowed their names to be used to effect such contributions, and that an
investigation is warranted. This Office notes that the money orders are not only numbered
sequentially, but in many instances also appear to have been signed by a single individual. In
addition, in several instances it appears that the purported contributors associated with a
particular sequence of money orders worked for the same employer.

Furthermore, this Office is not persuaded that the signed statements submitted by some of
the purported contributors of money orders adequately resolve the matter. In its letters soliciting
a signed statement, the Committee informed the contributor:

The Noach Dear for Congress Committee is reviewing its 1998 receipts. Our

records show that you made a personal contribution for [amount] in the form of a

money order [serial number], dated [date]. If this information is correct, please

sign the attached statement and return it to us in the enclosed stamped return
envelope. If this information is incorrect, please note any changes.

Attachment 8 at 1. The prepared statements tendered to the contributors state “[t]his confirms
that I contributed [amount] from my personal funds to the Dear for Congress Committee on
[date], money order [serial nurnber].”13 Id. at 2.

Neither the letter nor the prepared statement appear calculated to probe the question
whether the money order contributions were made by one person in the name of another. The

letter on its face appears to be seeking confirmation of various data, in particular the amount,

13 Both the letter and the tendered statement set out the particulars of the amount, serial number and date.
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date and money order number associated with the contribution, and the recipient’s attention is in
no way drawn to the fact that the statement also confirms that the contribution was made from
personal funds. Furthermore, to the extent that any person knowingly agreed to allow his or her
name to be used for the purpose of making a contribution for another, that person might well be
reluctant to confess this fact in response to the Committee’s letter. Finally, the statements
submitted by the Committee address only some of the money order contributions in question,
suggesting the possibilities that the Committee did not address its inquiry to all of the persons
whose money order contributions are in question and/or that persons receiving the Committee’s
letter declined to sign the prepared statement.

Accordingly, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that the
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441f by knowingly accepting contributions made by one person
in the name of another person. This Office further recommends that the Commission find reason
to believe that the following individuals each violated 2 U.S.C. § 441f by knowingly permitting
his or her name to be used to effect contributions made by one person in the name of another
person: Sarah Scherman, Bashev Dear, Bernard Strulovich, Hershel Perlstein, Joshua Weinstein,
Hershel Biggelson, Aron Igel, Chaim Kahana, Hershel Klein, Pesach Lemberger, Arye Eingel,
Luzer Obstfeld, Chaskel Elias, Moishe Geller, Mendel Sternhill, Chaim Sieger, Jose Bernstein,
Yaakov Einhorn, Chaim Welt, Morris Cohen, Nat Cheney, Ralph Tabbush, Matthew Jones, Jr.,
Barney Freeman, Nelson Patino, Jon Hamill, Pearl Greenbaum, Irwin Kahan, Temi Kahan, Bill
Huppert, Sterling Krieger, Sharon Avital, Susan Hyatt, Reuven Kaufman, Avrum Farber, Baruch
Beilush, David Donenberg, Yitchak Ciper, Martin Wesel, Leah Brecher, Menachem Langer,

Markus Mandelkorn, Sam Hollander, Michelle Portnor, Anchil Feder, Yakov Baum, Zev

Anfang, Dovid Piller, Berel Oberlander, Pesach Ringel, Tom Hennessey, Joe Horagh, Tony
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Haugh, James Campbell, Conor McHughs, Frank Nolan, Joshua Salwartz, Alexander Vais, Yidel
Klein, Leo Yakubouich and Zitta Yakubouich.
D. Reporting Requirements
1. Late Filed Reports

The Committee’s quarterly report for the third quarter of 1998 was due to be filed with
the Commission no later than October 15, 1998. 11 C.F.R. § 104.5(a). The Committee’s 1998
year-end report was due to be filed with the Commission no later than January 31, 1999. Id.

The Complaint alleges that the Committee failed to file reports due to the Commission on
October 15, 1998, and January 31, 1999.'* The Committee’s response to the Complaint, which
incorporates its response to the IAR, states that the failure to file the year-end report was the
result of a deliberate decision by the Treasurer, and cites the Treasurer’s concern with accounting
issues and the desire for accuracy as the basis for his decision to not file the report. Attachment 3
at 4.

According to Commission records, the Committee filed its quarterly report for the third
quarter of 1998 on October 16, 1998 (one day late) and its year-end report for 1998 on
November 5, 1999 (278 days late). Consequently, this Office recommends that the Commission
find reason to believe that the Committee violated 11 C.F.R. § 104.5(a) by failing to file a timely
quarterly report for the third quarter of 1998 and by failing to file a timely year-end report for

1998.1°

14 The IAR noted that the Commuttee’s 1998 year-end report was due to be filed on January 31, 1999, and,
that as of August 31, 1999, 1t had not been filed. However, the matter was not referred to this Office because the
Commuttee filed amendments for a 1998 year-end report 1n November 1999.

15 On May 12, 2000, the Commuission submutted final rules concerning an administrative fines program for
violations of the reporting requirements of 2 U.S C. § 434(a) to the United States House of Representatives and the
Umited States Senate for review for 30 legislative days before they are finally promulgated. 2 U.S.C. § 438(d). The
proposed admimstrative fines program would apply to reporting violations occurring in 2000 and 2001, and provides
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2. Improper Reporting
Both the Audit Referral and the Complaint raise the issue of incorrect reports by the
Committee. However, this Office recommends a reason to believe finding based solely on the
Audit staff’s findings.'®

The Audit staff noted in the Final Audit Report that the Committee’s 1999 Mid-year
Report disclosed starting cash on hand of $78,451 (as of January 1, 1999), total receipts of
$101,596 and total disbursements of $300,878 (all refunds of contributions), and closing cash on
hand of -$120,831. Attachment 1 at 5. The Final Audit Report further stated that, when
questioned, the Treasurer stated that refund checks had been written, but not mailed due to
insufficiency of funds. Id. Thus, it appears that the Committee improperly reported as
disbursements amounts which should have been reported as debts. The Committee in no way
disbursed refunds, because the recipients of the refunds would not have been able to cash the
checks due to the Committee’s insufficient funds and due to the fact that they never received the
refund checks.

Accordingly, the Office of General Counsel recommends that the Commission find
reason to believe that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4)(F) by improperly reporting
refunds which had not, in fact, been made. The Office of General Counsel further recommends
that the Commission find reason to believe that the Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(8) by

failing to report as debts those improper contributions which had not been refunded.

for a schedule of civil penalties. The proposed administrative fines program would not apply to the apparent
violations at 1ssue 1 this matter because the activity occurred prior to 2000

16 The Complaint notes that the Committee’s 1999 Mid-year Report reports contribution refunds of over
$300,000. Attachment 2 at 1. The Complaint argues that “these ‘refunds’ were not refunds at all because Dear for
Congress raised money after the election to return money to these donors.” Id However, the Commuttee’s use of
money raised subsequent to the acceptance of 1llegal contributions to refund such contributions does not render the
refunds invalid or unlawful.
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E. 48-Hour Notice Requirements

The Audit Division identified four contributions with respect to which the Committee
was required to file 48-hour notices, but failed to so. Attachment 1 at 8. See also 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(a)(6)(A). The aggregate amount of these four contributions was $7,000. Id. The Audit
Division also identified 45 contributions with respect to which the Committeé failed to file
required 48-hour notices until more than 48 hours after receipt. /d. The aggregate amount of
these 45 contributions was $70,500. Id.

The Committee’s response to this issue is to state that, while it failed to file a require'd 48-
hour notice within the time limit set by law with respect to the contributions identified by the
Audit staff, it ultimately did file untimely notices with respect to approximately 91% of the funds
in question. Attachment 3 at 3.

However, nothing in the Committee’s response refutes or justifies its apparent failure to
file required 48-hour notices within the time period prescribed by law. Accordingly, the Office
of General Counsel recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that the Committee
violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(6)(A) by failing to file required 48-hour notices, or filing untimely 48-
hour notices, for 49 contributions in an aggregate amount of $77,500.

F. Testing The Waters And Polling

The Complainant alleges that Friends of Noach Dear *93 funded a poll of residents within

the 9™ Congressional District. 17" Attachment 2 at 2. The poll thus encompassed some voters

1 The Complamt references an August 12, 1999 New York Daily News article as a basis for 1ts allegations and
includes an attached copy of the story. Attachment 2 at 4. This newspaper article 1s approprate factual support for
the Complaint, because it contains substantive factual allegations, such as named persons, particular acts and
possible violations of federal election campaign laws. The Commussion determuned on November 15, 1979 to
continue to accept complaints based on newspaper articles containing substantive facts, such as the one attached to
the Complamt. Commussion Memorandum 663. See MUR 1641 (Complaint satisfied Commission criteria when 1t
referred to newspaper article naming particular persons, acts, and alleged violations of the Act).
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outside Mr. Dear’s Council District but within the larger 9™ Congressional District. Id.
According to the Complaint, the poll appeared calculated to measure the viability of Mr. Dear
challenging Anthony Wiener, the incumbent representative for the 9™ Congressional District.
Attachment 2 at 4. The Friends of Noach Dear *93 City Council Disclosure Statement dated
July 15, 1999, reveals that it paid Penn, Schoen and Berland $20,000 on June 28, 1999 for polls.
Id. at 6.

On December 21, 1999, Mr. Dear filed a Statement of Candidacy with the Commission
for the 2000 election cycle and named Dear 2000, Inc. as his principal campaign committee.
Attachment 9. Upon his declaration of candidacy, any funds he received or spent in connection
with &etermining whether to become a candidate became a contribution or expenditure,
respectively. 11 C.F.R. § 101.3. This would include any poll purchased by or accepted by
Mr. Dear or his authorized political committee. 11 C.F.R. § 106.4. Although Friends of Noach
Dear *93 is not a “political committee” under the Act, to the extent that it engaged in activities
intending to influence Mr. Dear’s candidacy for federal office, it would be viewed as having
made an in-kind contribution to his federal campaign. 2 U.S.C. § 431(8). See also Advisory
Opinion 1985-38 (by incorporating the name of a federal candidate into its name, state political
committee would not become a “political committee” under the Act, but would make an in-kind
contribution to the federal candidate’s campaign committee). Thus, it appears that the poll
purchased by Friends of Noach Dear *93 in June 1999 became a reportable in-kind contribution
to Dear 2000 when Mr. Dear became a candidate for federal office in December 1999. 11 C.F.R.

§ 106.4. See also Advisory Opinion 1998-18 (the donation of poll results for testing the water
purposes becomes a contribution when the prospective candidate becomes a candidate, and thus,

subject to the Act’s limitations). As the cost of the poll was $20,000, this was an excessive in-
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kind contribution to Dear 2000 for the 2000 election cycle. 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 110.9(a)
Accordingly, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that
Dear 2000 violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.9(a) by knowingly accepting
contributions in excess of the $1,000 limit on contributions in connection with Noach Dear’s
2000 campaign. Further, because Dear 2000 did not report the poll as either an in-kind
contribution or as an expenditure, this Office recommends that the Commission find reason to
believe that Dear 2000 violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(2) and 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4).'"® Moreover, this
Office recommends that the Commission find reason to believe that Friends of Noach Dear *93
violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(b)(1) by making contributions to

Dear 2000 in excess of $1,000.

V. PROPOSED DISCOVERY, CONCILIATION AND INVESTIGATION
A. Dear for Congress and Contributors -

With respect to the apparent excessive contributions greater than $4,600 to the

Committee, this Office recommends that the Commission offer to enter into conciliation with the

contributors prior to a finding of probable cause to believe.

18 The April Quarterly Report for Dear 2000 reveals a $40,000 disbursement to Penn, Schoen and Berland on
January 11, 2000 with a notation of “political consultants.” Attachment 10. It 1s unclear whether this expenditure 1s
connected in any way to the Friends of Noach Dear *93 poll
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RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Open a MUR;

2. Find reason to believe that Dear for Congress and Abraham Roth, as Treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.9(a); 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 114.2(d); 2 U.S.C. § 441f; 11 C.F.R. § 104.5(a); 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(4)(F); 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(b)(8); 2 U.S.C. § 434(a)(6)(A);
3. Find reason to believe that Friends of Noach Dear 93, Steven Renee Adelsberg,

Shael Bellows, Joseph P. Billig, Trina Cayre, Abraham Chehebar, Jerome Cooper,
Samuel Cygler, Yosef Davis, Michael Fuchs, Eugene Gluck, Edith Gross, Harry Gross,
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Frank Johnson, Jomarr Realty Company, Boris Kandov, Benjamin Landa, Shimon
Lefkowitz, Abraham Leser, Andrew Lowinger, Joseph Mermelstein, Boris Motovich,
Serge Muller, J.L. Rajchenbach, Carl Rosen, Manny Weiss and Steve Zakheim violated
2U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(b)(1), and enter into conciliation with
these respondents prior to a finding of probable cause;

4, Find reason to believe that A. & E. Consultants of NY., Ltd., Ari H. Friedman
Associates Ltd., Blue Spot Co., C.G.B.P., EDH Associates, Elite Insurance Agency, Inc.,
Health and Home Management, Horizon Insurance Agency, Ltd., Intimate Resources
Ltd., Jacobowitz c/o Jay Import Company, Knit Nat Mills, Ltd., Inc., Kramer and
Shapiro, Mark Milberg Marketing, Inc., Midway Nursing Home Associates, Northernway
Mgt Corp. #1, Plymouth Rock Fuel Corp., Salvatore Realty Corp., Surfside Manor Home
for Adults, and The Esplanade Hotel violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2,
and take no further action, send an admonishment letter and close the file with respect to
these respondents;

5. Find reason to believe that Sarah Scherman, Bashev Dear, Bernard Strulovich,
Hershel Perlstein, Joshua Weinstein, Hershel Biggelson, Aron Igel, Chaim Kahana,
Hershel Klein, Pesach Lemberger, Arye Eingel, Luzer Obstfeld, Chaskel Elias, Moishe
Geller, Mendel Sternhill, Chaim Sieger, Jose Bernstein, Yaakov Einhorn, Chaim Welt,
Morris Cohen, Nat Cheney, Ralph Tabbush, Matthew Jones, Jr., Barney Freeman, Nelson
Patino, Jon Hamill, Pearl Greenbaum, Irwin Kahan, Temi Kahan, Bill Huppert, Sterling
Krieger, Sharon Avital, Susan Hyatt, Reuven Kaufman, Avrum Farber, Baruch Beilush,
David Donenberg, Yitchak Ciper, Martin Wesel, Leah Brecher, Menachem Langer,
Markus Mandelkorn, Sam Hollander, Michelle Portnor, Anchil Feder, Yakov Baum, Zev
Anfang, Dovid Piller, Berel Oberlander, Pesach Ringel, Tom Hennessey, Joe Horagh,
Tony Haugh, James Campbell, Conor McHughs, Frank Nolan, Joshua Salwartz,
Alexander Vais, Yidel Klein, Leo Yakubouich and Zitta Yakubouich 2 U.S.C. § 441f;

6. Find reason to believe that Dear 2000, Inc. and Abraham Roth, as Treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. § 441a(f) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.9(a); 2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(2); 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(b)(4), and enter into conciliation with these respondents prior to a finding of
probable cause;

7. Approve the attached sample Factual and Legal Analyses;
8. Approve the attached sample Conciliation Agreements; and

9. Approve the appropriate letters.

7/ Yo W
Dgfe / awrence M. Noble

General Counsel
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Attachments:

1.

w N

SeeRNane

Audit Referral
Complaint (Friends of Noach Dear 93 New York State Disclosure Report Excerpted)

Committee Response to Complaint (includes Committee response to Interim Audit
Report)

Schedule of Apparent Excessive Contributions

Schedule of Apparent Prohibited Contributions

Selected Corporate Checks

Schedule of Money Orders

Dear for Congress Letters to Contributors

Statement of Candidacy (Dear 2000)

0 Excerpt from Dear 2000 April Quarterly Report
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September 28, 1999

Dear Mrs. Dear,

The Noach Dear for Congress Committee is reviewing its 1998 receipts. Our records show that
you made a personal contribution for $1,000.00 in the form of a money order #8685092071, dated
12/16/97. 1f tlus information 1s correct, please sign the attached statement and retumn it to us in the enclosed

stamped return envelope. If this information s incorrect, please note any changes.

Thank you for your attention to this matter. If you have any questions, you may contact Charna
Weiss 718-236-1600 extension 0.

ery truly yours,

Abraham Roth
Treasurer

/

Page s DL

5612 18th Avenue * Brooklyn, NY x 11204 » phone: 718.435.9700  fax: 718.435.1429

Paid for by Dear for Congress, Abe Roth, Treasurer. Contributions are not tax deductibie. €pw
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This confirms that I contributed $1,000.00 from my personal funds to the Dear for
Congress Committee on 12/16/97, money order #8685092071.

Signed: MO@‘N"‘“

Date: /Ci/ 9// 9 9

ATTACHMEND 8
Pagten CaeiiDf &
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STATEMENT OF CANDIDACY RECEIVED
FEDERAL FLECTION

' {9ee reverse e foe insiructions)
CaMMIZSIo
1_(8) Name of Garsicata {in ful} N MAIL ROGM

Noach Dear

(b) Addwems {rwmber and reet) L) Chack # Addvess changad ARBNC2Y P 3 2,

969 E 7th Street §

(¢} Chty, Siae, and ZIP Code 2. Khenilacation Nuvbar

Brooklyn, New York 11230

3 Party Aliation 4. Difioe Sought 5 Simte & Distnct of Candaiale - )

-Democrat Congressman NY 9th Congressicnal District
o DESIGNATION OF PRINCIPAL CAMPAIGN CONMITTEE
P
;:3 7 | hereby sariharizd i Following named politcs( commitise es my Prepal Campaign Cenmmittas bor 1he _2000 . elatian(s)
““"‘E (yearf alaction)
:ﬁ NOTE: This dasipnation shauki be filad with the appropnsie afice eted delow.
3 — . (8) Name ol Commattee (in full} _, [rE——— . e - el e— v ——
b S '
* DEAR 2000, Inc.
o 5 Adereas {raembar and sirent)
= ¢/o Roth & Company TILP 5612 13th Avenue
=z (¢ Clty, Gtais, wnd 3P Gade
U Brooklyn, New York 11204

DESIGNATION OF OTHER AUTHORIZED COMMITTEES
(Inciuding Joint Fundmming Fepni senietvas)

7. | hersby anftnonze tne folowing named commitee, whsh i NOT my prncipal campaign committes, to racelve and enpend funds nnbfhnlror my

cantidasy.
NOTE' Tius asasgnatinn should Be (lld with the princpal campalgn camnities.

(a) Name of Commiias (n full)

(o) Addreas (number and siest]

(&] City, Saate, and 2P Code

iugwmsummmm;um Shatamant and fa the Dax of my imowiedge and bebeal & 16 rua, cowect and complets.
Oate

el /) i faq

NOTE: Submazion of Elpe, $rEmacus, of incampiste inomualion may subject the persen sipgning tis Statecwent to pencliet ot2 U.S.C §A97g
CANDIDATES FOR THE OFRCE OF: '
1.B. Sunso mall to< AN ofhee oareiiixine Farfurther mmﬂone_um
Secmiary of (he Senate mallta: Fodenyl Election Cammesion
Ofiica of Public: Feaovds Faderal Eiscioan Commissuan Tall-ireo 800/424-853D
090 € Siredl. N.W. Local 2022183420

232 Hart Esne Othos Hidg
washington, OC 206510-7116 Washingion, 0C §0483

r ’ FEC FORM 2
- L TACMENT !
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r . Federa! Elecion Commission
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The Commnssmn has added this page to the end of this filing to mdmuT i
haw it was ratl':ewed | h
l ' I Date of Receipt
II-l:a!'ld Q?Iivwed l
] ' i; =' POSTMARKED
s (First Class Mail ,
o . FOSTMARKED
:Registliradmauiﬁad Mail p p,)l-;,_ g9
D ﬁo Pos_ilmark Ii
) ' |
O IPostma:nc lllagible o
O 1 Date of [Redeip
i Reoewed from the House offica of Records l
i ‘and Relglstratlm |
| 1 , 1
1] ] : Date of Receipt
|: Recaived from the Senate Office of Public
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SCHEDULE B ITEMIZED DISBURSEMENTS Use separate schecile(e) 110z
for aach category of The
Detafled Summary Page FOR LINE NUMBER
7
Any infarmation copled from such Reparta and Statements may hot be sold or used by any parsan lar the purpase of salicding contnitadions or far
commercisl purposey, ather than using the name nd address of any poiteel commitae bo sobolt corinbutioha frem auch cammitiao
NAME OF GOMMITTEE (in Full)
Dear 2000, INC
Full Name, Mailing Address, and ZIP Code Purpoese of Disburaemant Date (manth, | Amaum of Each
I
HGP Saftware Inc day, ymar) Dlamglair;l;nt This
5440 Nevada Ave, NW Gamputer Software 01/95)2000 112500
Washihgton oc 20015 Disburssrmont for [ X [rdmary | |Generml
i ] Other (spacitys '
v Diab .| Amaunt of Each
‘? Full Name, Malling Addvess, ahd ZIP Code Purpose of Disburse ment Date {marmh. Gt e Thia
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& 1] Othar (specify) !
i Full Name, Malling Addtess, and ZIP Cods Purpase of Disbursatnent Date {manth, ;tfgﬂurﬂ ol E?;',"
] day, year) isbuesement This
B Bell Atnkic Perlod
g PO Box 1100 Telephone 01/0£/2000 §18.67
z Albany NY 12250 Diatureement for X |Primary | |[General
ir ] other (specify)
- - Amourd of Eagh
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- @oldstein Presa Y. ¥ Period
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$3E
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